No. 46333-4-II

**THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON, DIVISION II**

JOHN O'NEILL,

Plaintiff,

vs.

CHWEN-JYE JU and
FRANCES DU JU,

Defendants;

and

FRANCES DU JU,
vs.
CHWEN-JYE JU,

Cross-claimant pro

Cross-defendant;

and


FRANCES DU JU,

Appellant and
Third Party Plaintiff pro se,

vs.

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. and
BISHOP, MARSHALL & WEIBEL, P.S.

Respondents and
Third Party Defendants.

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II
2014 SEP 15 PM 1:10
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY  DEPUTY

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

FRANCES DU JU

Appellant pro se

P. O. Box 5934, Vancouver, WA 98668

Tel: (360) 253-4530

E-mail: frances3688@gmail.com

I. INTRODUCTION

Bishop, Marshall & Weibel, P.S.'s (hereinafter "Bishop") counsel identified that this case is regarding "collusive bidding" (RP 4/4/14, 12:20) at the June 21, 2013, Trustee's Sale. Mr. John O'Neill, the successful purchaser of the Trustee's Sale, paid \$172,500 after a per se violation of RCW 61.24.135(1). Mr. O'Neill then sold the premises at \$282,000 on April 1, 2014. A quick-illegal-money of "\$109,500 minus his cost" was his gain in nine months. Frances Ju bought the premises in April 1989 and invested money in the premises. Her gain in twenty-four years was less than a half of Mr. O'Neill's illegal gain.

The beneficiary, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (hereinafter "Chase"), and the Successor Trustee Bishop received money from the Trustee's Sale and did not care about Mr. O'Neill's per se violation of RCW 61.24.135(1) and Frances Ju's right and damages. The fact that Bishop withheld \$75,819.44 of Surplus Funds in its pocket for forty-eight days before it filed the funds with the Superior Court made Frances Ju unable to obtain a "bridge loan" from her relatives. Frances Ju had no financial ability to rent a place or move to comply with the 20-day time frame that the Washington legislative set.

Judge Stahnke disregarded RCW 59.12.090 to issue a questionable Writ of Restitution. Mr. O'Neill took advantage of Judge Stahnke's disregard of the statute and prematurely brought a deputy to the premise to

arrest Frances Ju without a warrant. The arrest was in violation of the 4th and 6th Amendments of the U.S. Constitution.

‘Homeowners facing foreclosure – most often due to job loss, illness, or other unavoidable hardship – are vulnerable to unfair and deceptive acts by beneficiaries and trustees, who wield the “tremendous” and “incredible” power to sell the homeowner’s property.’ Klem v. Washington Mutual Bank, 176 Wn.2d 771, 789, 295 P.3d 1179 (2013). Washington State Consumer Protection Act (hereinafter “CPA”) therefore plays a vital role in protecting homeowners’ rights. Even though “A hearing should be fair and impartial, and before an unbiased tribunal” has been held by the U.S. Supreme Court since 1913, the two judges, Judge Stahnke and Judge Gregerson, whom Frances Ju faced, did not want to treat foreclosed homeowner Frances Ju fairly and impartially.

When Frances Ju filed her Motion for Indigency with the Ex Parte Department, Judge Gregerson grabbed his opportunity. The next day, September 6, 2013, JPMorgan Chase & Co. mailed its Motion for Summary Judgment and Bishop’s supporting Affidavit. Both identified Judge Gregerson as the presiding judge to hear the Motion while Judge Stahnke still presided over this case until the October 25, 2013, hearing.

When Judge Gregerson granted Frances Ju’s Motion for Leave to Amend Third Party Complaint, “so long as no further claims are brought against Mr. O’Neill” was stated in Sub No. 125 Minute Order. Judge Gregerson wants to protect Mr. O’Neill. Nevertheless, his unfair granting of Chase’s and Bishop’s Motions for Summary Judgment made Frances Ju

the sole victim in this case. Chase and Bishop did not address the unfair or deceptive act or practice under the CPA in their Motions for Summary Judgment and failed to make valid argument in their Replies. Frances Ju showed the Superior Court that it was likely that Chase and Bishop conducted false notarization of documents. There are significant issues of material fact in dispute as well; and only a jury can decide which facts to believe. Judge Gregerson's bias and prejudice have arisen to violation of Frances Ju's Due Process right under the Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution.

There are broad, pressing public concerns at play in this instance, including the need to urge the Washington legislative to enact statutes to protect vulnerable foreclosed homeowners.

Frances Ju respectfully requests that this Court reverse Judge Gregerson's rulings and remand the case with specific instructions.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Judge Gregerson erred in entering the Orders Granting Chase's and Bishop's Motions for Summary Judgment, dated April 4, 2014.

2. Judge Gregerson erred in entering the four Orders Granting Chase's and Bishop's Motions for Partial Final Judgment and Dismissal, dated May 2, 2014.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Chase and Bishop committed per se violation of RCW 61.24.050(2)(a)(i) and did not address the issue of the per se violation of RCW 61.24.135(1), and the violations of Chapter 19.86 RCW, in their Motions for Summary Judgment; nor did they make valid argument in their Replies. It was also likely that Chase and Bishop conducted false notarization of documents. Should Judge Gregerson Grant Chase's and Bishop's Motions for Summary Judgment? Was the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment violated? Shouldn't Judge Gregerson have disqualified himself in the proceeding?

2. Judge Gregerson did not allow Frances Ju's daughter to file an Affidavit after the April 4, 2014, hearing while the substance of the evidence was made known to him by Frances Ju's offer and was apparent from the context within which questions were asked. Judge Gregerson disregarded Frances Ju's Oppositions that Chase's and Bishop's documents might have been falsely notarized and that Bishop or Weibel did not include any evidence that Bishop published the Trustee's Sale in the newspaper to comply with RCW 61.24.040(3); and did not rule that the Jury will decide on the false notarization issue and that Chase and Bishop should have included a copy of the publications. Did Judge

Gregerson's ruling against Frances Ju's daughter's Affidavit comply with ER 103(a)(2), ER 601, and ER 901(b)(1)? Did Judge Gregerson apply his double standard, bias and prejudice in entering the Orders Granting Chase's and Bishop's Motions for Summary Judgment?

3. Chase and Bishop did not address Frances Ju's request for declaratory and other relief when Judge Gregerson granted Chase's and Bishop's Motions for Summary Judgment. Both Chase and Bishop procedurally leaped directly to entry of final judgment when Frances Ju's viable claims remained. Their Motions for final judgment are actually Dispositive Motions in disguise, for which CR 56(c) requires 28-day motion calendar. Should Judge Gregerson Grant Chase's and Bishop's Motions for Final Judgment?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. STATEMENT OF THE PROCEDURE

On September 5, 2013, Frances Ju filed her Motion for Indigency with the Ex Parte Department (Sub No. 42). When she waited at Department 2, she noticed that the Honorable David E. Gregerson walked past where she sat at least twice and looked at her. The next day, September 6, 2013, JPMorgan Chase & Co. mailed its Motion for Summary Judgment to the Superior Court and Frances Ju. Page 1 of the Motion specified, "HON. DAVID E. GREGERSON" (CP 331). Page 1 of

the accompanying Bishop, Marshall & Weibel, P.S.'s (hereinafter "Bishop") Affidavit of David A. Weibel also specified, "Honorable David E. Gregerson" (CP 274).

The Honorable Daniel L. Stahnke still presided over this case until the October 25, 2013, hearing (Sub No. 23 of case No. 13-2-02832-1). Nevertheless, Judge Gregerson heard JPMorgan Chase & Co.'s Motion for Summary Judgment on October 18, 2013 (Sub No. 73).

On December 26, 2013, Frances Ju filed her Motion for Leave to Amend Third Party Complaint (Sub No. 103). The Superior Court gave her a January 10, 2014, hearing date. After Mr. O'Neill did not file any response by January 8, 2014, Judge Gregerson instructed his Judicial Assistant to send an e-mail that he was striking the hearing and Frances Ju will need to recite the hearing for after February 6, 2014 (Sub No. 119, Ex. C).

At the February 7, 2014, hearing, Judge Gregerson made it clear: "Defendant Ju's Motion to for Leave to Amend her Complaint; Granted as to adding additional parties, so long as no further claims are brought against Mr. O'Neill." (Sub No. 125 Minute Order).

On February 24, 2014, and March 6, 2014, Chase and Bishop filed their Motions for Summary Judgment, respectively (CP 7-21; CP 22-32). Chase and Bishop committed per se violation of RCW 61.24.050(2)(a)(i) and did not address the issue of the per se violation of RCW 61.24.135(1), and the violations of Chapter 19.86 RCW, in their Motions for Summary Judgment; nor did they make valid argument in their Replies. Chase and

Bishop did not challenge the facts that a man kept yelling, “Wow! Wow! Wow! Stop! Stop!” and made Mr. O’Neill the successful purchaser at the June 21, 2013, Trustee’s Sale (CP 153; CP 129). Judge Gregerson did not allow Frances Ju’s adult daughter to file an Affidavit after the hearing. There was no discovery before Chase and Bishop filed their Motions for Summary Judgment.

Frances Ju’s Oppositions to Chase’s and Bishop’s Motions for Summary Judgment (CP 150-168; CP 127-143) showed the Superior Court that the moving parties were not entitled to judgments as a matter of law; and that this case should proceed to trial because there were significant issues of material fact in dispute, and only a jury can decide which facts to believe. Nevertheless, Judge Gregerson granted Chase’s and Bishop’s Motions.

On April 15 and 21, 2014, Chase and Bishop filed their Motions for Partial Final Judgment, respectively (CP 178-182; 183-185). Frances Ju’s Responses stated that Chase and Bishop attempted to procedurally leap directly to entry of judgment dismissing all claims against them and dismissing them as parties to this action before Frances Ju’s request for declaratory and other relief in ¶¶ G and H of “Prayer for Relief” of the Amended Third Party Complaint has been fully litigated (CP 204-214; CP 189-199). Their Motions for final judgment were actually Dispositive Motions in disguise, for which CR 56(c) required 28-day motion calendar. Nevertheless, Judge Gregerson granted Chase’s and Bishop’s Motions.

On May 30, 2014, Frances Ju filed Notice of Appeal to the Court of Appeals on six Orders that Judge Gregerson granted (CP 215-236).

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Frances Ju stated in her Opposition (CP 352), ‘In Schedule 14A Proxy Statement that Third Party Defendant JPMorgan Chase & Co. filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission in April 2012, it shows that JPMorgan Chase & Co. has enough voting stock to influence of the board of directors and control the management and operations of JP Morgan Chase Bank. It means that JPMorgan Chase & Co. can organize JPMorgan Chase Bank’s management structure and company bylaws, setting forth rules related to corporate governance. Under common law, a court may “pierce the corporate veil” of the parent company and both companies will be viewed as a single entity.’ Frances Ju also cited numerous cases. At the October 18, 2013, hearing, Frances Ju asked Judge Gregerson, ‘If Third Party Defendant wants to contend “piercing the corporate veil”, I would ask this Court to allow me to amend my pleading to include JPMorgan Chase Bank and the Successor Trustee as Third Party co-defendants.’ Judge Gregerson did not allow Frances Ju to amend pleading and simply granted JP Morgan Chase & Co.’s Motion for Summary Judgment (Sub No. 77).

December 6, 2013, was the due date for Frances Ju to file her Amended Motion for Discretionary Review with the Supreme Court of Washington State. At the December 6, 2013, hearing, Judge Gregerson

instructed Frances Ju to file a Motion for Leave to Amend Third Party Complaint. “Shouldn’t the trial court allow Frances Ju to amend pleadings to include the Successor Trustee and JPMorgan Chase Bank as Third Party co-defendants under the doctrine of compulsory party joinders?” was one of the eight issues Frances Ju presented for review. On December 7, 2013, Mr. John O’Neill filed a less-than-a-hundred-words Respondent’s Answer. On December 10, 2013, Frances Ju e-filed Petitioner’s Reply. Frances Ju stated in the Petitioner’s Reply that Mr. O’Neill’s less-than-a-hundred-words Answer had misspelling and grammar problems, other than that he failed to state any valid argument; nor did he comply with RAP 10.4(a) and 17.4(g)(2). (Sub No. 124D, Ex.A).

The Supreme Court did not issue its ruling on December 19, 2013. After having waited the Supreme Court for a week, Frances Ju filed her Motion for Leave to Amend Third Party Complaint pursuant to Civil Rules 15, 18, 19 and 20 (Sub No. 103). Frances Ju stated, “This Motion is to ask for this Court’s leave to amend Third Party Complaint to conform to the facts and evidences that have been filed by JPMorgan Chase Bank’s parent company and the Successor Trustee. CR 15(b).” (Sub No. 103, P.7). The Superior Court gave her a January 10, 2014, hearing date. On Monday, December 30, 2013, an anonymous Acting Commissioner of the Supreme Court issued a Ruling Denying Review (Sub No. 109).

Mr. O’Neill did not mimic his then-attorney (Sub. No. 49) to file a Notice of Unavailability when he claimed that he would be out of town until February 6, 2014. On December 31, 2013, and January 3, 2014, Mr.

O'Neill sent Judge Gregerson's assistant, Ms. Rhonda Stockman, e-mails. (Sub No. 119, Ex. A-B) regarding his going out of town until February 6, 2014. Mr. O'Neill did not send Frances Ju a copy until more than an hour later on January 3, 2014. After Mr. O'Neill did not comply with the court rules to file his Responses to Frances Ju's two Motions by January 8, 2014, Judge Gregerson struck the January 10, 2014, hearing (Sub No. 119, Ex.C). Frances Ju was instructed to recite the hearings to February 7, 2014.

On early morning of January 27, 2014, Mr. O'Neill was seen at the Clark County courthouse. Mr. O'Neill used the twenty-eight-day continuance to put the premises on the market for sale. On February 3, 2014, the Ex Parte department of Department Nine found that Frances Ju's Motion for Preliminary Injunction to preserve the status quo had likelihood of success on the merits and possibility of irreparable injury; and issued a Preliminary Injunction.

On February 7, 2014, Judge Gregerson dissolved the Preliminary Injunction issued by Department Nine and Ordered Frances Ju to pay \$800 to Mr. O'Neill's attorney (Sub No. 128). On April 1, 2014, Mr. O'Neill sold the premises for \$282,000 and transferred a Special Warranty Deed.

It took one hundred twelve days for Judge Gregerson to grant leave for Frances Ju to amend her Third Party Complaint (Sub No. 126). Frances Ju updated Bishop's official name and served Summons and Amended Third Party Complaint (CP 1-6) ("hereinafter ATP Complaint") upon Chase and Bishop.

Chase filed its Motion for Summary Judgment on February 24, 2014 (CP 7-21). Bishop filed its Motion for Summary Judgment and Declaration of David A. Weibel on March 6, 2014 (CP 22-120). As there was no service by electronic means between Bishop and Frances Ju, she filed her Opposition to Bishop's Motion on March 21, 2014 (CP 121-143). Her Opposition to Chase's Motion was filed on March 24, 2014 (CP 144-168). Bishop filed its Reply on March 31, 2014 (CP 169-177). Chase filed its Reply on April 1, 2014. CR 56(c) states, "The moving party may file and serve any rebuttal documents not later than 5 calendar days prior to the hearing." At the April 4, 2014, hearing, Frances Ju asked Judge Gregerson to strike both Replies (RP 4/4/14, 15:8-13). Frances Ju then realized that March 31, 2014 was "the next day nearer the hearing which is neither a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday." Thus, Bishop's Reply made it at the last minutes while Judge Gregerson should have stricken Chase's Reply.

The parties did not go through the discovery process and Chase and Bishop immediately filed their Motions for Summary Judgment after being served with Summons. If Judge Gregerson would have granted Frances Ju's request (RP 4/4/14, 17:5-18:17) so that Frances Ju can tell her adult daughter that the Court wants her to file an Affidavit regarding what she saw and heard at the June 21, 2013, Trustee Sale, her daughter would have complied and filed her Affidavit. Chase and Bishop forfeited their discovery process and Frances Ju's daughter did not want to get involved if she had not had to, especially after Judge Stahnke and Mr.

O'Neill disregarded RCW 59.12.090; and after Mr. O'Neill prematurely brought a deputy to the premises to arrest Frances Ju without a warrant in violation of the 4th and 6th Amendments of the U.S. Constitution.

Judge Gregerson disregarded Frances Ju's Oppositions that Chase's and Bishop's documents might have been falsely notarized and that Bishop or Weibel did not include any evidence that Bishop published the Trustee's Sale in the newspaper (CP 139 ll.3-4; CP 164 ll.23-24) to comply with RCW 61.24.040(3); and did not rule that the Jury will decide on the false notarization issue and that Chase and Bishop should have included a copy of the publications. Judge Gregerson denied Frances Ju's request for her daughter to write an affidavit. Bishop did not challenge the issue until its Reply, which was filed with the Superior Court four days before the April 4, 2014, hearing. Bishop's challenge was not stated specifically but one of the eight facts that Bishop stated. (Sub No. 158, P.5). The parties did not go through the Discovery process and CR 26 requires thirty days for the other party, Frances Ju, to respond.

Even though Chase and Bishop filed their Motion for Summary Judgment separately, Judge Gregerson did not give Frances Ju twice of the time to respond to the Motions separately. Judge Gregerson simply habitually granted Frances Ju's opposing parties' motions. Judge Gregerson made it clear:

The real question before the Court in this particular case, Ms. Ju -- and I know you've been in front of me, Ms. Ju, probably at least ten times and at every hearing I always tell you that you -- I strongly recommend that you have an attorney who understands the laws and the procedures. I admire the work that you've done on your own, but there is no substitute

for an attorney that has the training and the experience and the education to be able to handle these matters. (RP 4/4/14, 29:20-30:3)

The concern of “hiring an attorney” was addressed by Judge Gregerson almost every time Frances Ju attended the hearings. However, as the Superior Court had still withheld Frances Ju’s Surplus Funds of \$35,345.24 since the October 25, 2013, Order, Frances Ju had to rely on her children to financially support her for basic living expenses. Almost every penny counted when Frances Ju was still waiting for the disbursement of the Surplus Funds. Frances Ju had no budget to hire any attorney.

THE COURT: Okay. Ms. Ju, here’s my concern - -

MS. JU: Yes.

THE COURT: - - and I know I ‘m sounding like a broken record here, at this point, but I know you’ve been in front of me at least four or five times. Okay. Do you recall what I’ve strongly recommended

to you each and every time that you’ve been in front of me? Do you recall my advice to you, my strong suggestion to you each and every time that you’ve been in front of me?

MS. JU: Is that hiring an attorney?

THE COURT: Yeah.

MS. JU: Yeah, but the thing is the Court has not disbursed the surplus funds.

THE COURT: Okay. I’m just making sure you and I are on the same page because you’ve been in front of me many times - -
(RP 2/7/14, 6:20-7:10).

“Hiring an attorney” was addressed by Judge Gregerson and “having not received the Surplus Funds” was replied by Frances Ju at almost every hearing that Judge Gregerson presided. The difference between the February 7, 2014, hearing and the previous hearings was that Judge Gregerson’s facial expression was very hostile. The CD that the Superior Court produced may have been modified to some degrees. Both

Ms. McCoy's clothes and Frances Ju's brown suit top lost the color of red. Otherwise, Judge Gregerson's red face when he spoke to Frances Ju in most time during the hearing would have been able to be seen.

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