NO. 46333-4-II

2014 OCT 17 PH 12: 44

STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPUTY

DIVISION II

FRANCES DU JU,

Appellant,

v.

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., and BISHOP, MARSHALL & WEIBEL, P.S. f/k/a BISHOP, WHITE, MARSHALL & WEIBEL, P.S.,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT BISHOP, MARSHALL & WEIBEL, P.S.

APPEAL FROM CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT
The Honorable David E. Gregerson

David A. Weibel, WSBA No. 24031 Barbara L. Bollero, WSBA No. 28906 BISHOP, MARSHALL & WEIBEL, P.S. 720 Olive Way, Suite 1201 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 622-5306, Ext. 5918

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

Although Ms. Ju rails that she was not notified of Bishop's Appointment, she cites no requirement that Bishop so notify her, and there is none in the DTA. Further, it is black letter law that recording of a document serves as constructive notice to all members of the public concerning the matters stated therein. RCW 65.08.070; *Strong v. Clark*,

³ Ms. Ju acknowledges she was aware "the Trustee might have [been] ... replaced by the beneficiary." [Brief, p. 33.]

56 Wn.2d 230, 232, 352 P.2d 183 (1960); *Allen v. Graaf,* 179 Wash. 431, 439, 38 P.2d 236 (1934).

The trial court correctly held no triable fact issue existed concerning the Successor Trustee Appointment's execution, recording, and notification to Ms. Ju and no DTA violations were committed, and did not err in awarding Bishop summary judgment.

5. Bishop Breached No Duty in Publication of the Notice of Trustee's Sale.

Ms. Ju claims Bishop submitted no proof that it published the Notice of Trustee's Sale, thereby creating a triable fact issue defeating summary judgment. [Brief, p. 4, Issue 2, and pp. 12, 42-43.] That is incorrect. Bishop submitted the uncontroverted and recorded Trustee's Deed, which states:

The Trustee ... in accordance with law ... caused a copy of said "Notice of Trustee's Sale" to be published once between the thirty-five (35) and twenty-eighth (28) day before the date of sale, and once between the fourteenth (14) and seventh (7) day before the date of sale in a legal newspaper in each county in which the property or any part thereof is situated

[CP 35-36, 103-06.]

Recitals in the Trustee's Deed are *prima facie* evidence that the sale was "conducted in compliance with all of the requirements of [the DTA] and of the deed of trust" RCW 61.24.040(7). The DTA creates

"a rebuttable presumption that the sale was conducted in compliance with the procedural requirements of the act." *Albice v. Premier Mortgage Servs. of Washington, Inc.*, 174 Wn.2d 560, 570-71, 276 P.3d 1277 (2012).

Accordingly, Bishop introduced *prima facie* evidence of not only sales notice publication, but compliance with all sale requisites. [CP 33-120, 274-330.] Ms. Ju did not submit any evidence rebutting the presumption of DTA compliance. The trial court correctly held no triable fact issue existed concerning publication of the Notice of Trustee's Sale, and did not err in awarding Bishop summary judgment.

6. Bishop Breached No Duty in Calculating the Opening Trustee's Sale Bid.

Ms. Ju asserts that conflicting evidence concerning the opening bid amount reveals a triable fact issue preventing summary judgment for Bishop. [Brief, pp. 18-19, 42.] She claims a \$16.33 difference in the opening bid and her debt due to Chase constitutes an error in the Trustee's Sale process that voids the sale and violates the CPA. [CP 3, ¶¶3.6-3.8.] Ms. Ju's contentions are incorrect for five reasons.

First, the DTA allows the Trustee to "credit toward the beneficiary's bid all or any part of the monetary obligations secured by the deed of trust." RCW 61.24.070(1). Thus, Chase was not required to bid

its full debt. Accordingly, an opening bid of \$16.33 less than the debt then due was allowed by statute.

Second, Chase was considerably outbid by Mr. O'Neill, the winning bidder. The opening bid is of no consequence when it is not the prevailing bid. Ms. Ju introduced no evidence proving her contention that "the mistakenly low [by \$16.33] opening bid price ... resulted in or contributed to a grossly inadequate sale price" [Brief, p. 42]. There was no evidence linking the opening bid with the allegedly inadequate winning bid.

Third, the Trustee was mandated to apply the sale proceeds to the sale expenses. The DTA provides: "The trustee *shall* apply the proceeds of the sale as follows: (1) To the *expense* of sale" RCW 61.24.080 (emphasis supplied). Because Bishop incurred a \$16.33 expense, it was necessary to charge that expense to Chase, which charged it to Ms. Ju.

Fourth, the statute on which Ms. Ju relies, RCW 61.24.050(2)(a)(i) [CP 3, ¶3.8; CP 19], applies only to the Trustee, beneficiary, or beneficiary's authorized agent, not the Grantor or borrower. Even if the opening bid was statutorily "erroneous" – which Bishop denies – only one of the three parties allowed by statute could declare the sale void, not Ms. Ju, the Deed of Trust Grantor.

Fifth, a challenge seeking sale avoidance must be brought within 10 days after the sale under RCW 61.24.050(2)(a). Even if Ms. Ju could challenge an allegedly erroneous opening bid amount under RCW 61.24.050(2)(a)(i), she delayed several months past the limitations date to do so. Her claim is time-barred.

The trial court did not err in finding no triable fact issue and no DTA violations concerning the opening bid amount, and properly awarded Bishop summary judgment.

7. The Trial Court Correctly Denied Additional Time to Submit a Proposed Affidavit First Mentioned in an Offer of Proof During Summary Judgment Argument.

Mr. Ju asserts the trial court erred when it refused to admit an Affidavit – not yet drafted or signed – of an unwilling witness first mentioned in an offer of proof during the summary judgment hearing.⁴ [Brief, pp. 4-5, Issue 2, and pp. 7, 11-12, 16, 35-37.; RP 4/4/2014, p. 17, 1. 14 – p. 18, 1. 6.] The proposed Affidavit of Ms. Ju's daughter purportedly would have attested that during the Trustee's Sale, a man stopped others from bidding by saying either "Wow! Wow! Stop! Stop!" or

⁴ "If Judge Gregerson would have granted Frances Ju's request ... so that Frances Ju can tell her adult daughter that the Court wants her to file an Affidavit ... her daughter would have complied and filed her Affidavit. ... Frances Ju's daughter did not want to get involved if she had not had to" [Brief, p. 11 (emphasis supplied).]

"whoa, whoa, stop, stop." [CP 127, ll. 1-2; RP 4/14/2014, p. 17, l. 17 – p. 18, l. 6; p. 27, l. 21 – p. 28, l. 3; p. 28, ll. 9-11.]

A trial court may continue a summary judgment hearing to allow submission of additional evidence under the circumstances set forth in CR 56(f). "The trial court may, however, deny a motion for continuance where: (1) the requesting party does not offer a good reason for the delay in obtaining the desired evidence; (2) the requesting party does not state what evidence would be established through the additional discovery; or (3) the desired evidence will not raise a genuine issue of material fact." *Turner v. Kohler,* 54 Wn. App. 688, 693, 775 P.2d 474, 476-77 (1989).

The trial court's grant or denial of a motion for continuance will not be disturbed absent a showing of manifest abuse of discretion. *Lewis v. Bell*, 45 Wn. App. 192, 196, 724 P.2d 425 (1986). When a continuance is not explicitly requested, and there is no explanation why the discovery could not have been pursued prior to the summary judgment proceeding, the trial court properly exercises its discretion in denying a continuance for submission of additional evidence. *Turner, supra*, 54 Wn. App. at 693-95.

Ms. Ju never moved for an extension of time to present additional evidence, never requested an extension from the parties, and never explained the relevance of the evidence, other than asserting that Bishop

"should have voided the trustee sale but they did nothing." [RP 4/4/2014, p. 17, l. 1 – p. 18, l. 9; p. 26, ll. 4-10; p. 30, ll. 22-25.] She did not argue and cited no authority for the proposition that – even if proven – a bystander yelling during a Trustee's Sale is grounds to void the sale.

Ms. Ju implies that had Bishop's and Chase's summary judgment motions been filed after (rather than before) discovery was performed, she would have had more time to obtain evidence of the bystander yelling. [Brief, pp. 7, 11-12, 36.] But she was aware of the manner in which the sale was conducted the same day it occurred on June 21, 2013.⁵ She alleged the Trustee's "irregularity and mistake" and that the sale should be set aside in her Answer filed nine months before the hearing.⁶ [CP 259, ¶9.] There was clearly ample time for her to obtain the evidence, especially from a family member.

In the absence of a CR 56(f) motion, the trial court appropriately exercised its discretion in refusing additional time for Ms. Ju to file an Affidavit which would not create a triable fact issue regarding Bishop's alleged breach of its good faith duty to her. Summary judgment was correctly awarded to Bishop.

⁵ "Frances Ju challenged a wrongful foreclosure that Frances Ju became aware [of] during and after the day of the Trustee's Sale." [Brief, p. 17.]

⁶ "[S]ince July 29, 2013, Frances Ju has asked the Superior Court to set aside the ... Trustee's Sale." [Brief, p. 19.]

8. Bishop Breached No Duty in Handling the Surplus Funds of the Trustee's Sale.

Ms. Ju claims Bishop unreasonably withheld the surplus funds from the Trustee's Sale, violating the DTA and breaching its good faith duty to her. [Brief, pp. 1, 17, 33.] The surplus funds statute does not support any such claim. It provides:

The surplus, if any, less the clerk's filing fee, shall be deposited, together with written notice of the amount of the surplus, a copy of the notice of trustee's sale, and an affidavit of mailing as provided in this subsection, with the clerk of the superior court of the county in which the sale took place. The trustee shall mail copies of the notice of the surplus, the notice of trustee's sale, and the affidavit of mailing to each party to whom the notice of trustee's sale was sent pursuant to RCW Upon compliance with this 61.24.040(1). ... subsection, the trustee shall be discharged from all further responsibilities for the surplus. ... A party seeking disbursement of the surplus funds shall file a motion requesting disbursement in the superior court for the county in which the surplus funds are deposited. Notice of the motion shall be personally served upon, or mailed ... to all parties to whom the trustee mailed notice of the surplus, and any other party who has entered an appearance in the proceeding, not less than twenty days prior to the hearing of the motion.

RCW 61.24.080(3) (emphasis supplied).

No requirement exists that the Trustee: (1) deposit the funds within any specific time after the sale; or (2) serve notice of that deposit within any specific time after it is made. The state legislature could have

included a deadline for the Trustee to act but chose not to, unlike the 20 days' notice required for a surplus funds disbursement motion.

It was undisputed on summary judgment that Bishop filed the surplus funds with the Clark County Superior Court.⁷ [CP 36, ¶14, 107-16.] Ms. Ju now asserts that "[s]he was not informed by ... any other trustee or company about the filing of Surplus Funds with the Court." [Brief, p. 33.] She did not deny service in the trial court, nor introduce any evidence rebutting Bishop's proof of service on her. [CP 36-37, ¶15, 117-20.]

Because the evidence proved Bishop complied with RCW 61.24.080(3), it was discharged from all further responsibilities for the surplus. Accordingly, without evidence of DTA non-compliance, the trial court did not err in finding Bishop met its good faith duty to Ms. Ju and correctly granted summary judgment to Bishop.

- B. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Entering Partial Final Judgment Because There was No Just Reason For Delay.
 - 1. Partial Final Judgment Orders are Reviewed Under the Abuse of Discretion Standard.

⁷ To the extent Ms. Ju asserts that the Court delayed in distributing the surplus funds [Brief, pp. 13, 15-16], that claim is not relevant to whether Bishop breached its good faith duty to her and whether the trial court property awarded Bishop summary judgment.

The decision to enter a judgment under CR 54(b) is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Gull Indus., Inc. v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.,* 181 Wn. App. 463, 481, 326 P.3d 782 (2014); *Loeffelholz v. Citizens for Leaders with Ethics and Accountability Now (C.L.E.A.N.),* 119 Wn. App. 665, 694, 82 P.3d 1199 (2004). "A trial court abuses its discretion by issuing manifestly unreasonable rulings or rulings based on untenable grounds, such as a ruling contrary to law." *In re Estate of Toland,* 180 Wn.2d 836, 851, 329 P.3d 878 (2014) (citing *Lakey v. Puget Sound Energy, Inc.,* 176 Wn.2d 909, 919, 296 P.3d 860 (2013)).

2. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Determining as Timely a CR 54 Motion Served and Noted with Less Than 28 Days' Notice.

Ms. Ju asserts as error that Bishop's and Chase's Partial Final Judgment motions were "actually Dispositive Motions in disguise, for which CR 56(c) requires 28-day motion calendar." [Brief, pp. 5, 47.] Her arguments are not persuasive.

Both Chase's motion and Bishop's joinder specifically sought relief under CR 54(b). It provides:

When more than one claim for relief is presented in an action, ... or when multiple parties are involved, the court may direct the entry of a final judgment as to one or more but fewer than all of the claims or parties only upon an express determination in the judgment, supported by written findings, that there is no just reason for delay and upon an express direction for the entry of judgment. The

findings may be made at the time of entry of judgment or thereafter on the court's own motion or on motion of any party. In the absence of such findings, determination and direction, any order or other form of decision, however designated, which adjudicates fewer than all the claims or the right and liabilities of fewer than all the parties shall not terminate the action as to any of the claims or parties

Civil Rule 54(b) (emphasis supplied).

Neither of Respondents' motions and supporting evidence sought any relief other than entry of Partial Final Judgment; the underlying facts and claims were not addressed. The only new evidence submitted was the one page Declaration of Bishop's counsel regarding the reasons Bishop requested Judgment be entered, including that "Ms. Ju has proven to be a prolific *pro se* litigant." Thus, Ms. Ju's assertion that the motions were disguised dispositive motions is meritless.

Accordingly, CR 6(a), (d), and (e) – not CR 56 – established the notice time necessary for hearing and service of the Partial Final Judgment motions as five court days, plus three by mail. Chase served its motion by mail on April 11, 2014 – 21 days in advance of the hearing on May 2, 2014 [CP 182], and Bishop served its joinder by mail 14 days before the hearing date [CP 446-47]. Consequently, Ms. Ju was provided more than twice the length of notice required.

The trial court did not err in determining Ms. Ju received the requisite notice under CR 6 of Chase's Partial Final Judgment motion and

Bishop's joinder. Its Orders granting entry of Partial Final Judgments to Bishop and Chase should be affirmed.

3. Any Other Claimed Errors in Entering Partial Final Judgment have Been Waived and Abandoned.

Ms. Ju assigns error to entry of both Bishop's Order granting entry of Partial Final Judgment and the Judgment itself. [Brief, p. 3, ¶2.] However, other than urging the final judgment motions were "disguised" summary judgment motions, Appellant does not explain how the trial court abused its discretion, nor does she address CR 54(b)'s requirements.

Failure to provide argument or authority in support of an assignment of error precludes review of that alleged error on appeal. *State v. Bello*, 142 Wn. App. 930, 932, 176 P.3d 554, *rev. den'd*. 164 Wn.2d 1015, 195 P.3d 88 (2008). Arguments that are not supported by citation to legal authority will not be considered on appeal. *Pacific Sound Resources v. Burl. Northern Santa Fe R.R. Corp.*, 130 Wn. App. 926, 940, n. 21, 125 P.3d 981, *rev. den'd.*, 158 Wn.2d 1011, 145 P.3d 1214 (2005).

Because Ms. Ju did not support her assignment of error to the trial court's Orders granting entry of Partial Final Judgment and the final Judgments themselves, she has waived and abandoned any such claims, and this Court should not consider the asserted errors.

4. The Trial Court Appropriately Exercised its Discretion in Finding All CR 54(b) Requisites Satisfied.

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